
 
 

 
ITEM 27 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 
 



O:\council\agendas\packets\backup\24 Budget Amendments Ambulance and College Street PH.docx 

 
 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
 
The Town Council will hold a public hearing on Monday, March 18, 2013, at 7:00 p.m. at the Municipal 
Meeting Room (Room 217), Maine Street Station, 16 Station Avenue, to consider the following two 
budget amendment resolutions: 
 

Resolution Amending the 2012-13 Budget and 
Appropriating $345,580 from the Unassigned Balance of the General Fund 

to Fund a Rescue Vehicle Already Acquired Pursuant to a Bond Ordinance and 
to Fund the Acquisition of Another New Fire Department Rescue Vehicle 

 
 

Resolution Amending the 2012-13 Budget and 
Authorizing the Design and Re-construction of College Street and Related Improvements, with 

Total Project Costs Not to Exceed $1,233,000, and Further Appropriating $500,000 from the 
Unassigned Balance of the General Fund, plus any Additional Appropriation Authorized under this 

Resolution 
 
The text of the proposed resolutions is too extensive to be included with this notice.  Anyone having 
questions about the proposed ordinance or wishing to obtain copies of it should contact the Brunswick 
Town Clerk's or Town Manager's Office during regular office hours Monday through Friday from 8:30 
a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 
 
INDIVIDUALS NEEDING AUXILIARY AIDS FOR EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION PLEASE 
CONTACT THE TOWN MANAGER'S OFFICE AT 725-6659 (TDD 725-5521) 

 
 
Frances M. Smith 
Town Clerk of Brunswick, Maine 

 
_________, 2013 
 
 
 



TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
 

Resolution Amending the 2012-13 Budget and 
Appropriating $345,580 from the Unassigned Balance of the General Fund  

to Fund a Rescue Vehicle Already Acquired Pursuant to a Bond Ordinance and 
to Fund the Acquisition of Another New Fire Department Rescue Vehicle 

 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) on July 11, 2011, adopted a Bond Ordinance 
entitled “An Ordinance Authorizing the Funding and Acquisition of a New Fire Rescue Vehicle” (the 
“Bond Ordinance”); and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Bond Ordinance, the Town purchased a Fire Rescue Vehicle in 2011; 
(the “2011 Ambulance”); and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to a resolution adopted June 18, 2012 and entitled, “A Resolution Authorizing 
the Expenditure of up to $16,175 from Unexpended Funds to Fund a Portion of a Fire Rescue Vehicle 
authorized by Bond Ordinance” the Town applied $16,174.80 of 2011 Bond Project Funds towards 
the purchase of the 2011 Ambulance leaving a balance to be funded of $158,580.20; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Town no longer wishes to issue debt to fund the purchase of the 2011 Ambulance; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, through its capital improvement planning process, the Town has identified the need to 
purchase another Fire Department rescue vehicle (a.k.a. ambulance); and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Manager has recommended that acquisition of a new ambulance be 
authorized as soon as possible; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) adopted a budget for the 2012-13 fiscal year (the 
“Budget”); and 
 
WHEREAS, section 504 of the Charter of the Town of Brunswick provides a method for amending 
the Budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has held a public hearing on the proposed amendments to the Budget  
at least ten days prior to the adoption of this resolution; 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION IS ADOPTED: 
 

Section 1  Funding Source and Appropriation

 

.  The sum of $345,580 is appropriated from 
the Town’s unassigned General Fund Balance to fund the balance of the cost of the 2011 Ambulance, 
$158,580, and the cost of acquiring and equipping another Fire Department Rescue Vehicle, at an 
estimated cost of $187,000 (the “Acquisition”). 

Section 2.  Authorization to Acquire Capital Asset.  The Town Manager is authorized to 
negotiate, execute, and deliver, in the name of and on behalf of the Town, such contracts, agreements, 
as the Town Manager determines to be necessary or appropriate in connection with the Acquisition.  



The aforementioned items shall be in such form and contain such terms and conditions as may be 
approved by the Town Manager.  Such approval shall be conclusively evidenced by the Town 
Manager’s execution thereof, provided however, that the Town Manager may delegate the authority 
granted hereunder as the Town Manager deems appropriate. 

 
Section 3.  Acquisition Costs Defined.

 

  The term “cost” or “costs” as used herein and 
applied to the Acquisition, or any portion thereof, includes: 

a. the purchase price or acquisition cost of all or any portion of the Acquisition, 
including all costs of equipping and outfitting the Acquisition, and all costs relating 
to preparing Acquisition to be ready for its intended use and placed in service; 
 

b. the cost of any other item or service deemed to be a cost under generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”) as determined by the Town’s Finance Director. 
 

 
Section 4.  Unexpended Funds

 

.  Upon a determination by the Finance Director that the 
Acquisition is complete or abandoned, any remaining balance shall lapse to the Town’s General 
Fund. 

 
Proposed to Town Council: March   4, 2013 
Public Hearing:   March 18, 2013 
Adopted by Town Council:  
 
 
O:\Finance\Budget\Budget 2012-13\Resolutions\2012-13 Budget Amendment Ambulances.docx 



TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 
 

Resolution Amending the 2012-13 Budget and 
Authorizing the Design and Re-construction of College Street and Related Improvements, with 

Total Project Costs Not to Exceed $1,233,000, and Further Appropriating $500,000 from the 
Unassigned Balance of the General Fund, plus any Additional Appropriation Authorized under 

this Resolution 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) adopted a budget for the 2012-13 fiscal year (the 
“Budget”); and 
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement between the Town and Bowdoin College (the “College”) the 
Town agreed to make certain improvements to College Street: and 
 
WHEREAS, the Brunswick Sewer District (“BSD”) and the Brunswick-Topsham Water District 
(“BTWD”) wish to make improvements to their College Street facilities and have agreed to 
participate in the College Street improvements; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town has hired Milone and MacBroom Engineers to develop plans and 
specifications for the reconstruction of College Street, to include the improvements desired by the 
College, BSD and BTWD (the “Project”); and 
 
WHEREAS, Milone and MacBroom Engineers has estimated $1,233,000 as the total Project cost; 
 
WHEREAS, the Town, the College, BSD and BTWD have tentatively agreed on a cost sharing plan 
for the Projects; and 
 
WHEREAS, the cost sharing plan requires the Town to fund up to $500,000 of the total Project cost 
 
WHEREAS, the Town and Bowdoin College wish to begin construction of the Project in the spring 
of 2013; and  
 
WHEREAS, section 504 of the Charter of the Town of Brunswick provides a method for amending 
the Budget; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has held a public hearing on the proposed amendments to the Budget  
at least ten days prior to the adoption of this resolution; 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION IS ADOPTED: 
 

Section 1.  Funding Sources and Appropriations
 

. 

a. A total of one million two hundred and thirty-three thousand dollars ($1,233,000), 
plus any additional amounts authorized under this resolution, are appropriated to 
finance the cost of designing and reconstructing College Street (the “Project”).   

b. A sum not to exceed $500,000 from the Town’s Unassigned Fund Balance is 
appropriated as the Town’s share of the total Project cost. 



c. A sum equal to the balance of the Project costs, as determined in a cost sharing 
agreement to be developed between the Town, the College, BSD and BTW, and 
approved by the Town Manager, (the “Cost Sharing Agreement”) is accepted by the 
Town and appropriated towards the total Project cost. 

 
Section 2.  Authorization to Develop and Construct

 

.  The Town Manager is authorized to 
negotiate, execute, and deliver, in the name of and on behalf of the Town, such contracts, agreements, 
and other documents and certificates as the Town Manager may determine to be necessary or 
appropriate in connection with the Project.  The aforementioned items shall be in such form and 
contain such terms and conditions as may be approved by the Town Manager.  Such approval shall be 
conclusively evidenced by the Town Manager’s execution thereof, provided however, that the Town 
Manager may delegate the authority granted hereunder as the Town Manager deems appropriate. 

Section 3.  Project Costs Defined.

 

  The term “cost” or “costs” as used herein and applied to 
the Project, or any portion thereof, includes: 

a. the cost of planning, surveys, engineering, environmental assessments, inspections 
and other professional services;  

b. the costs related to applying for and obtaining all permits; 
c. the cost of any land, rights, and easements;  
d. the cost of constructing the Project, and all costs determined by the Town Manager to 

be necessary to place the Project in service and ready for its intended use, including 
but not limited to the cost of all labor and materials, landscaping, off-site 
improvements, and the cost of all utility construction or relocation;  

e. the cost of insuring the Project while under construction and for a reasonable period 
upon substantial completion; 

f. any other costs identified in the Project budget, and the cost of any other items or 
services deemed to be cost under generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) 
as determined by the Town’s Finance Director. 
 

 
Section 4.  Unexpended Project Funds

 

.  Upon a determination by the Finance Director that 
the project is complete or abandoned, and the fulfillment of all the obligations under the Cost Sharing 
Agreement, any remaining balance in the project account shall lapse to the Town’s General Fund. 

 
 
Proposed to Town Council: March   4, 2013 
Public Hearing:   March 18, 2013 
Adopted by Town Council:  
 
 
O:\Finance\Budget\Budget 2012-13\Resolutions\2012-13 Budget Amendment College St.docx 



 

Town of Brunswick, Maine 
INCORPORATED 1739 

TOWN COUNCIL 
28 FEDERAL STREET 

BRUNSWICK, MAINE 04011-1583 

 
 

TELEPHONE      207-725-6659 

FAX                      207-725-6663 

 

www.brunswickme.org/departments/town-council 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Town Council 
 
FROM:  Sarah Brayman, John Perreault, Jerry Favreau  
  CIP Committee 
 
DATE:  March 12, 2013 
 
RE:  Proposed Budget Amendments 
  Ambulances and College Street 
 
 
 
 
As requested, the CIP Committee has discussed the two proposed budget amendments that will be the 
subject of a public hearing to be held by the Town Council at its March 18th meeting.  We have chosen to 
comment on the two amendments separately. 
 
Fire Rescue Vehicles (Ambulance) 
 
This amendment proposes to fund an ambulance already acquired pursuant to a bond ordinance and an 
additional ambulance with funds from the Town’s unassigned general fund balance.  The Town Council 
recently adopted a CIP Policy that anticipates that most vehicle purchases will be funded through 
reserves, built with annual budget appropriations.  However, as the CIP Committee has made clear, there 
needs to be a transition to this new method of vehicle financing, as there are not currently sufficient 
reserves to finance all new vehicle purchases.  In discussing this transition, the Committee concluded that 
it would be appropriate to use savings from other projects to fund new vehicles as the reserve funds are 
built.  Further, the Committee and the Council expressed a desire to minimize the use of debt for 
individual purchases under $325,000.  Accordingly, we support the recommendation to fund the 
ambulance already acquired and a new ambulance form the Town’s unassigned general fund balance. 
 
College Street Improvements 
 
The amendment proposes to fund improvements to College Street.  On October 4, 2011, the Town and 
Bowdoin College executed an agreement to exchange the former Longfellow School for the College’s 
McLellan building.  In that agreement the Town also agreed to make improvements to College Street.  
“Such improvements are generally described as follows: (i) reconstruction of the intersections of College 
Street at Maine Street and Harpswell Road (the intersections will be designed and constructed to achieve 
a traditional "T" intersection); and (ii) construction or rehabilitation of sidewalks and curbing on both 
sides of College Street; and (iii) placement of a traffic-calming (speed table) device on College Street.”  
The agreement specifies the timing of the project, “…likely starting no sooner than July 1, 2012 and no 
later than July 1, 2014…” 



CIP Committee – Memo to Town Council 
March 12, 2013 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 
The Town and the College have worked to develop plans and specifications for the reconstruction of the 
street and related improvements.  The Brunswick Sewer District (BSD) and the Brunswick- Topsham 
Water District (BTWD) have participated in the project’s development.  The Town, the College, BSD and 
BTWD have tentatively agreed on a cost sharing formula for the project that calls for the Town to fund up 
to $500,000 of the anticipated $1,233,000 project costs. 
 
The Town Manager has recommended that the Town’s share of the project funding come from 
unassigned general fund balance.  The Committee considered that the Town Manager was making this 
recommendation based, in part, on balances left in other projects that would ultimately lapse to the 
general fund.  Previous CIP’s contemplated that the Town’s portion of this project would be funded with 
debt.  At $500,000, the project is of sufficient size that debt financing is justified.  However, given the 
availability of funds remaining in other projects, the Committee concludes that using fund balance for this 
project is appropriate. 
 
In reviewing the project, it was clear that the most significant changes to College Street entail changes to 
the intersection of College and Maine, the intersection of College and Harpswell Road, and the 
installation of three speed-table crosswalks on College Street.  The Committee recommends that the 
project design be subjected to review and approval by the Town Council prior to authorizing the project 
to proceed. 
 
 
 
 
cc: Town Manager 
 



 

 
TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

TOWN MANAGERS OFFICE 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 
TO:  Brunswick Council    
 
FROM:  Gary Brown, Town Manager 
  
DATE:  February 26, 2013     
  
RE:  Budget Amendment; College Street improvements/ambulance purchases       
      
 
The traffic improvements to College Street have been designed and the schedule for 
this project is to have the construction begin as soon as the school year is over at 
Bowdoin College. In addition to the work on College Street, staff is also recommending 
to amend the budget for the purchase of two ambulances. Specific details are provided 
below. 
 
Over the course of the past several months, we have completed the following projects:  
 

1. The demolition of the Times Record Building. This project was completed at a 
cost of just under $150,000. The source of the funding for this was the special 
revenue fund for the Times Record building. That account now has a balance of 
$351,190.51 

 
2. Replacement of the pedestrian bridge at Cooks Corner. This project was 

finished in late November at a cost of $373,000. This leaves a balance in this 
account of $107,443.15 

 

3. Longfellow School.  Our obligations for the former Longfellow School have 
been met. There is a balance in this account of $32,292.25 

 

4. Cook’s Corner paving project:  This project was completed last year and has a 
balance of $21,583.64 
 

5. Other Road Construction.  There is also a balance of $228,117.02 in the other 
road construction capital account. 
 

The funds remaining from these completed projects totals $740,626.57.  
 
The cost estimate for College Street improvements includes participation by Bowdoin 
College, the Water District and the Sewer District. The total project cost is estimated at 



$1,233,000. The present estimate for Brunswick is $421,000, plus a 10% contingency 
for a total of $463,100. We will recommend a budget of $500,000 for this in the event 
that the costs are greater than the estimate. A separate detailed memo regarding 
College Street is included with this memo. 
 
In 2011 the Council authorized debt to purchase an ambulance. That ambulance has 
been purchased but we have not issued the debt. As we have already funded a portion 
of that ambulance, the balance to be funded is $158,580.  The replacement of the third 
ambulance was recommended by the Fire Department last year, but was not included 
in the CIP that was presented to the Council for the current year. The recommendation 
from staff is to use existing funds to pay for the ambulance that was purchased in 2011 
and for the proposed ambulance this year. The estimated total of the two ambulances 
is $345,580. 
 
The total required to fund the College Street project and the two ambulances is 
$845,580. The above-mentioned remaining balances will lapse to  the General Fund 
and then the total needed will be appropriated. The net impact on the General Fund will 
be $104,953.  
 
The recommendation to use the balance of funds and the $104,953 from fund balance 
results in satisfying our commitment to the College Street project, pays for two 
ambulances and avoids adding to our debt service.  
 
 
 



 

 
TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

TOWN MANAGERS OFFICE 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 
TO:  Brunswick Council    
 
FROM: Gary Brown, Town Manager 
  
DATE: February 26, 2013       
  
RE: College Street project            
 
  
In 2011 the Town Council authorized the transfer of the former Longfellow School to 
Bowdoin College in exchange for the McLellan building. The terms of the exchange 
included the reconstruction of the intersections of College Street at Maine Street and 
Harpswell Road, installation of speed tables, and the placement of new sidewalks and 
repairs to the existing sidewalk.  
 
We have been working with Bowdoin, the Water District and the Sewer District to get 
this project designed and ready for construction this year. The scope of the project 
grew, particularly with the involvement of the two Districts. The two Districts are cost 
sharing in the project, as is Bowdoin. 
 
The present estimate totals $1,233,000. The Town’s share of this amount is just under 
40% of this amount. The estimate is $421,000, plus a contingency of 10%, for a total of 
$463,100. We are recommending that we budget $500,000 for this project, in the event 
that the estimates prove to be low.  
 
As the Council is also aware, Bowdoin has requested that we change the direction of 
traffic on Upper Park row so that traffic will move south to north from College Street to 
Maine Street, near the Chamberlain statute. Any costs associated with this change will 
be absorbed entirely by Bowdoin. They have also requested some changes in the 
length of parking for some of the spaces on Park Row. The desired outcome is to have 
these spaces turned over more frequently than presently occurs.  
 
There is a traffic analysis that is being completed to review the impacts of the changes 
to the intersections as well as changing the direction on upper Park Row. That report is 
scheduled to be finished next week and will be made available to the Council when it is 
received. 



 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
TOWN MANAGERS OFFICE 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 
TO:  Brunswick Council    
 
FROM: Gary Brown, Town Manager 
  
DATE: March 12, 2013    
 
RE: College Street/Park Row          
 
The  Council will be holding a Public Hearing to amend the current year budget at the 
March 18Council  meeting. One of the items to be considered is the improvements to 
College street. These improvements are based on one of the conditions of the 
exchange of the former Longfellow School for the McLellan Building.  
 
The Town has been working collaboratively with the College and the Water and Sewer 
Districts to design this project. Copies of the most recent design in are included in your 
packet. We are expecting some fine tuning to this design based on our most recent 
meeting which occured Friday, March 7. 
 
Also included in your packet is the traffic analysis of the project and the reversing of 
traffic on Park Row from College street to Maine Street. Although this is not specifically 
part of the project, it would be efficient to undertake this as part of the project if the 
Town is agreeable to the proposal. 
 
We have scheduled a meeting of residents that may be impacted by this project. The 
meeting will be held on March 28 in the Council Chambers. At that time we expect to 
have the final plans available for public presentation and comment. 
 
Also included in the packet is a cost sharing matrix that identifies the split of the costs 
between the Town, Bowdoin and the two Districts. This is a preliminary matrix that will 
have some adjustments to it as some of the sidewalk work reflected in this document is 
the Town's responsibility and not the College. 
 
 

 



Print Date:  February 13, 2013

ITEM NO. ITEM/DESCRIPTION Town Share
Bowdoin 

College Share
BTWD Share BSD Share Total for Item

201.23 Removing Single Tree Top Only  $           3,000  $           3,000 

201.24 Removing Stump  $           1,800  $           1,800 

202.15 Removing Manhole or Catch Basin  $         12,000  $         12,000 

202.202 Removing Pavement Surface  $         21,692  $         11,832  $           5,916  $         39,440 

203.20 Common Excavation  $         32,588  $         17,775  $           8,888  $         59,250 

203.21 Rock Excavation  $              500  $              500 

304.09 Aggregate Base Course-Crushed (Type 
A)

 $           6,897  $           3,762  $           1,881  $         12,540 

304.10 Aggregate Subbase Course-Gravel 
(Type D)

 $         24,552  $         13,392  $           6,696  $         44,640 

403.207 Hot Mix Asphalt 19.0mm HMA  $         35,420  $         19,320  $           9,660  $         64,400 

403.208 Hot Mix Asphalt 12.5mm HMA  $         10,350  $           3,050  $         13,400 

403.209 Hot Mix Asphalt 9.5mm HMA  $         58,750  $           3,050  $         61,800 

603.05 6 inch Culvert Pipe Option 3 (PVC)  $              350  $              350 

603.15 12 inch Culvert Pipe Option 1 (HDPE)  $           4,500  $           4,500  $           9,000 

603.17 18 inch Culvert Pipe Option 1 (HDPE)  $         23,800  $         23,800  $         47,600 

604.072 Catch Basin with Frame and Grate  $         34,500  $         34,500  $         69,000 

604.15 Drainage Manhole and cover  $           8,400  $           8,400  $         16,800 

604.16 Altering Catch Basin to Manhole  $           2,400  $           2,400 

604.18 Adjusting Manhole or Catch Basin to 
Grade

 $           4,800  $           4,800 

608.13 Cobblestone Edging  $         16,000  $         16,000 

608.26 Curb Ramp Detectable Warning Field  $         12,250  $         12,250  $         24,500 

608.28 Granite Pavers with Bituminous Base  $         33,600  $         33,600 

608.281 Unit Pavers with Bituminous Base  $         67,000  $         67,000 

608.45 Construct Sidewalk  $         33,000  $         24,000  $         57,000 

609.11 Vert Curb Type 1  $       100,450  $       100,450 

609.38 Reset Curb - Type 1  $           5,000  $           5,000 

615.07 Loam  $         13,200  $         13,200 

618.14 Seeding  $           3,480  $           3,480 

619.12 Mulch  $           3,480  $           3,480 

621.01 Street Trees  $                -    $                -   

626.21 Metallic Conduit  $                -    $                -   

626.22 Non-metallic Conduit (PVC)  $                -    $                -   

626.30 Light Pole Base  $                -    $                -   

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK
Reconstruction of College Street - 30% Plans for Review

BRUNSWICK, MAINE
Opinion of Probable Construction Construction Cost Including 10% Contingency

FEBRUARY 7, 2013

Complete Bid Page 1 of 2



Print Date:  February 13, 2013

ITEM NO. ITEM/DESCRIPTION Town Share
Bowdoin 

College Share
BTWD Share BSD Share Total for Item

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK
Reconstruction of College Street - 30% Plans for Review

BRUNSWICK, MAINE
Opinion of Probable Construction Construction Cost Including 10% Contingency

FEBRUARY 7, 2013

626.35 Controller Cabinet Foundation  $                -    $                -   

627.711 White or Yellow Pavement Markings  $           1,800  $           1,800 

627.77 Remove Pavement Markings  $              300  $              300 

631.12 All-Purpose Excavator (including 
operator)

 $                -    $                -   

631.13 Bulldozer (including operator)  $                -    $                -   

631.14 Grader (including operator)  $                -    $                -   

631.15 Roller (including operator)  $                -    $                -   

631.17 Truck (including operator)  $                -    $                -   

631.22 Loader (including operator)  $                -    $                -   

634.21 Light Pole and Fixture  $                -    $                -   

637.07 Dust Control  $           1,100  $              200  $              500  $              200  $           2,000 

643.71 Traffic Signal Modification  $                -    $                -    $                -    $                -    $                -   

645.3031 Signage Poles and Signs  $              825  $              150  $              375  $              150  $           1,500 

652.39 Work Zone Traffic Control  $           5,500  $           1,000  $           2,500  $           1,000  $         10,000 

656.75 Temporary Soil Erosion and Water 
Pollution Control

 $           2,750  $              500  $           1,250  $              500  $           5,000 

659.10 Mobilization  $           8,250  $           1,500  $           3,750  $           1,500  $         15,000 

801.17 8" PVC Sanitary Sewer (SDR-35)  $         76,000  $         76,000 

803.134 Sanitary Sewer Service Leads  $           9,200  $           9,200 

803.16 4' Dia Precast Sewer Manhole  $         18,000  $         18,000 

822.33 6" Class 52 Ductile Iron Pipe  $           8,700  $           8,700 

822.34 8" Class 52 Ductle Iron Pipe  $           6,000  $           6,000 

822.36 12" Class 52 Ductile Iron Pipe  $       171,950  $       171,950 

823.31 12" Gate Valve  $         13,600  $         13,600 

823.32 8" Gate Valve  $                -    $                -   

823.34 Blow Off Valve Assembly  $           2,000  $           2,000 

824.34 Reconnect Existing Fire Hydrant  $           1,500  $           1,500 

825.31 Curb Stop and Water Service 
replacement

 $         15,000  $         15,000 

826.1 Temporary Water Service  $                -    $                -   

841.48 Bollards  $         27,200  $         27,200 

 $       477,684  $       260,700  $       293,206  $       139,591  $    1,171,180 

 $         47,768  $         26,070  $         29,321  $         13,959  $       117,118 

 $       525,452  $       286,770  $       322,527  $       153,550  $    1,288,298 

525,000$       287,000$       323,000$       154,000$       1,288,000$    TOTAL (ROUNDED) =

PROJECT SUBTOTAL =

CONTINGENCY ±10% =

PROJECT TOTAL =

Complete Bid Page 2 of 2































Sc pi em bcr 30,2011 vc 1', 

Town o(Brumwick-Bowdoin College 

Lon ellow Scllooi/McLelltm Built/in' Exc/um 1e 11 reement 

This Agreement is dated this 1/l day of~.),. e/ _, 2011 , by and between the 
Town of Brunswick, Maine, having a mailing address of28 Federal Street, Brunswick, Maine 
04011 (the "Town"), and Bowdoin College, a non-profit Maine corporation, having an address of 
5600 College Statioii, Brunswick, Maine 04011 ("Bowdoin"). 

WHEREAS, Bowdoin is the owner of a three-story office building known as the 
McLellan Building constructed in 1999 containing approximately 34,642 sq uare teet of floor 
space located at or near 85 Union Street, Brunswick, Maine, together with the related land and 
parking lot containing approximately 88 parking spaces, such land being a portion ofthe land 
originally described in deed from the Town to Bowdo in recorded in the Cumberland County 
Registry ofDeeds at Book 14565, Page 285 (Bowdoin deeded back to Town a po1tion ofthe 
property, as described in deed recorded in said Registry at Book 26880, Page 78) (the 
"McLellan Property"); and 

WHEREAS, the Town is the owner of a two-story school building constructed in 1924 
containing approximate ly 38,000 square feet of floor space located at or near 2 1 Longfellow 
Avenue in Brunswick, Maine, to gether with the related land such land originally described in 
deed from Conant (as Trustee for estate of Joshua L. Chamberlain) to the Town recorded in the 
said Registry of Deeds at Book 1336, Page 431 (the "Longfellow Property"); and 

WHEREAS, the Town would like to acqu ire the McLellan Property for use as a new 
town hall, and Bowdoin would like to acquire the Longfellow Property in order to renovate or 
demo I ish the existing building and redevelop the property for college uses, and, subject to 
satisfaction of certain conditions, the parties are willing to agree to enter into the transactions 
described herein; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants a nd agreements 
conta ined herein, the parties hereto do hereby agree as fu llows: 

1. Transactions. Subject to and expressly conditioned upon satisfaction of the 
closing co nditions set forth in Section 2 hereof, the Town and Bowdoin hereby agree to execute 
and deliver the documents described below (the "Closing Documents'') and enter into the 
transactions described therein (the "Tra nsactions") at a closing (the "Closing") to take place on 
or before January 31, 2012 (the "Closing Date''). It is acknowledged that the consideration for 
the Transactions is the swap of the McLellan Property and the Longfe llow Property and the 
mutual promises and agreements contained in the Closing Documents and that there is no 
payment of monies due from either pa1ty to the other at the C los ing: 

A. McLellan Property Conveyance Documents. Bowdoin sha ll execute and deliver a 
Quitclaim with Covenant Deed and all related and customary closing documents 
necessary to convey title to the McLellan Property to the Town, subject to all 
currently existing easements and agreements affecting such property (but excepting 
matters described in section 2 below, inc luding liens and mortgages) including, 



without, limitation, the Shared Parking Agreement dated May 16, 2008, as amended 
· October 8, 2009, between Bowdoin and JHR Development ofMaine, LLC which 
shall be assigned to and assumed by the Town. 

B. McLellan Property Leases. ·n1e Town and Bowdoin will execute at time ofCiosing 
(0 a lease of the entire building and all parking spaces on the McLellan Property for a 
term expiring on May 31, 2014 (the "Building Lease") and (ii) a lease ofthe third 
floor (and associated rights ofconm10n access) for a term beginning at the end of the 
term ofthe Building Lease and continuing to May 31,2024 (the "Third Floor 
Lease"). Under the Building Lease there is no base rent or other charges due fi·om 
tenant but the tenant shall be respons ible for all maintenance, repairs, payments in 
lieu of real estate taxes (notwithstanding Town's ownership of the property), 
insurance (including casualty and liability) utility service and all other operating costs 
and Uabilities. Under the Third floor Lease there is no base rent or other charges due 
:fi·om tenant and the landlord sha ll be responsible for all maintenance, repairs, 
insurance (including casualty and liability) utility service and all other operating costs 
and liabilities, except that Bowdoin will provide its ownjan itorial service within its 
premises. 

C. Longfellow Conveyance Documents. The Town shall execute and deliver a 
Quitclaim with Covenant Deed and all re lated and customary closing documents 
necessary to convey title to the Longfe llow Property to Bowdoin, subject to all 
currently existing easements and agreements affecting such property (but excepting 
matters described in section 2 below, including liens and mortgages). 

D. College Street Improvement Agreement. The Town and Bowdoin sha ll enter into 
an agreement which sha U: ob ligate the Town to construct and install over a 3-year 
period, likely starting no sooner than July 1, 201 2 and no later than July 1, 2014, 
certain improvements to College Street generally as shown on Exhibit A attached 
hereto (exc1ud ing park ing lot access shown on such p Jan, which sha II not be Town's 
responsibility), which improvements shall be described in fiuther detail in such 
agreement. Such improvements are genera lly described as follows: (i) reconstruction 
of the intersections of Co liege Street at Maine Street and Harpswell Road (the 
intersections will be designed and constructed to achieve a traditional "T" 
intersection); and (ii) construction or rehabilitation of s idewa lks and curbing on both 
sides ofCollege Street; and (iii) placement of a traffic-calming (speed table) device 
on College Street. The agreement sha ll include a process fo r Bowdoin's review and 
approval of the plans and spec ifications for such work and to schedule such work so 
as to minimize disruption to Bowdoin. 

E. Pa l'ldng Agreement Arne ndment. Pursuant to a Parking Agreement dated January 
31, 2009, the Town agreed to provide 39 park ing spaces for use by Bowdoin no later 
than September 1, 2009. The Town was unable to timely perform that obligation but 
it has confirmed such obligation pursuant to a letter dated November 9, 2009. The 
Town shall continue to endeavor to perform such obligation as soon as possible. 

2 



During the term of the Third Floor Lease the 39 spaces shall be located in the 
McLellan lot unless the Town and Bowdoin agree to an alternate location. 

F. Playground Lease. The Town and Bowdoin sha ll enter into a no-rent lease of a 
parcel of land to be designated by Bowdoin and acceptable to Town (which land is 
intended to be the approximate area of the cwTent Longfellow Property playground 
area) for a playground located near the Longfe llow Property which shall provide that 
the Town shall be respons ible for all operation, maintenance and insurance ofthe 
playground premises and sha ll (subject to Town's liability limits provided by law and 
by its insurance) indenmizy Bowdoin for any injuries occun·ing thereon. The term of 
the initial lease sha ll be for 10 years, subject to extension by mutual agreement. 

G. Asbestos Removal Agreement. The Town and Bowdoin shall enter into an 
agreement which shall obligate the Town to set aside funds for the purpose ofpaying 
a II costs associated with the abatement or removal and disposal, in accordance with 
applicable laws, of asbes tos-containing materials from the Longfellow Property. The 
Agreement sha ll provide that after Bowdoin has decided whether it des ires to 
renovate or demolish the building on the Longfellow Properly, it shall cause 
specifications fo r such work to be prepared and shall obta in bids fi·om licensed 
asbestos contractors for such work and shall notif)' the Town of the expected cost 
thereof(which shall include the costs ofthe professionals preparing the specifications 
and superv is ing the work). The Town's responsibility fu r th is obligat ion shall be 
limited to reimbursement (or payment directly) of the cost of the work to conduct the 
abatement or remova I and disposa l of asbestos-containing materia Is at the time of 
renovations or demolition, and the contract(s) for such work sha lt be entered into by 
Bowdoin and such wade sha ll be under the supervision ofBowdoin. Such 
reimbursement/payment obligation by Town shall be Town's sole obligation as to any 
asbestos~containing materials present at the Longfellow Propetty. 

2. Conditions to Clos ing. The obligations ofthe parties to perform any ob ligation 
described herein and/or enter into any agreement described or contemp lated hereunder and/or to 
close this transaction and execute and deliver the Closing Documents, and enter into the 
Transactions and the agreements described therein, are subject to satisfaction of each ofthe 
followin-g conditions to the satisfaction of each ofthe pait"ies, in their so le discretion: 

A. Town Approval. This Agreement and the Closing Documents and associated 
agreements and ob ligations shall have received any necessary approval by the Town's 
Town Council. 

B. Bowdoin Approval. This Agreement and the Closing Documents and associated 
agreements and ob ligations shall have received any necessary approvals fi·om 
Bowdoin's Board ofTrustces. 

C. Inspections . S ince each of the Longfellow Propetty and the McLellan Property will 
be conveyed in "as is" condition, each party has the right to perform such inspections 
and due diligence investigations as it may des ire. I3owdo in has performed an 
inspection ofthe Longfellow Property as described in a report submitted by Bowdoin 

3 



to the Town dated J unc 21, 201 1 prepared by Up-County Building Inspectors. 
Bowdoin acknowledges that the Town has conducted repairs and add ressed issues at 
the Longfellow Property descr ibed in said rep01t to the satisfaction ofBowdoin. The 
Town's inspection ofthe McLellan Property is cw·rently in process. The Town sha ll 
provide Bowdoin with a copy of the inspection report but Bowdoin shall not be 
required to make any repairs or improvements that may be recommended thereby. 

D. Longfellow Property Rezoning. The zoning applicable to the Longfellow Property 
shall have been changed fi·om Rl to CU7, as recommended by the Planning Board for 
action by the Town Counsel on October 3, 2011. 

E. Forms of Closing Documents. The Town and Bowdoin shall have reached 
agreement on the form of each of the Closing Documents and any other documents 
necessary to effectuate the agreements contemp Ia ted herein through good faith 
negotiations to be conducted between the date of this Agreement and the Closing 
Date. 

F. Title. Each party shall be satisfied with status oftitle to the rea l estate to be acquired 
by it hereunder (i.e., that the title is good and marketable and insurable, under 
Maine's title standards) and to confirm that such property is not subject to any liens 
or encumbrances that would interfere with the contemplated uses thereof 

G. No Casualty. It is a condition to Closing that there has been no casualty resulting in 
material damage to the buildings on either the Longfellow Property or the McLe llan 
Property between the date hereof and the Closing, provided that it the owner of the 
Propetty so damaged elects to restore such damage, the Clos ing Date may be 
extended to allow such restoration and this condition shall be satisfied upon 
completion of such restoration. 

In the event any of the foregoing conditions is not satisfied prior to the Closing Date, Town and 
Bowdoin sha ll have no obligation to close on this transaction and shall each have the additional 
right and option to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the other given prior to the 
Closing Date, and upon such notice, this Agreement shall terminate, and the parties shall have 
no obligations hereunder whatsoever All ofthe foregoing conditions are mutua l conditions, for 
the benefit of each party. Each party may, in its soled iscretion, waive any of the furcgo ing 
conditions and proceed to closing, subject to the other patty's right to terminate as aforesaid. 

3. No Warranties. Except for the title covenants in the deeds, each ofthc 
Longfellow Property and the McLe llan Property shall be conveyed in its then current "as is" 
condition, and the pa1ty transferring the app licable property shall make no representations or 
warranties, express or implied, including any warranty of condition, habitability, 
merchantability, su itability, or fitness for any particular purpose, and/or the presence or absence 
of hazardous or dangerous materials or cond itions (but this sentence does not limit the Town's 
obligations relating to asbestos under section 1 G above). The Town acknowledges that certain 
hazardous materia ls that were present on the McLe llan Property when it was conveyed by the 
Town to Bowdoin may continue to be present at such Property. 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the patties have executed this Agreement as ofthe date first 
above written. 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

Witness 

BOWDOIN COLLEGE 

5 



Exhibit A 

Recommendations: Intersections +Vehicular Conflicts 
Revise intersections to slow down traffic and create safer pedestrian crossings 

CURRENT CONDITION 

1-. 
Cl) 

if 
j 

s 
fi 
if 

C{ 

PREFERRED CONDITION 

• Eliminate 
diagonal street 

• Create signalized 
T-i nte rsecti on 

s 
fi 
if 

C{ 

Hubbard 
Hall 

Parking lot access 
adjacent to highest 
pedestrian crossing area 

P-rovide new access to 
parking lot to minimize 
pedestrian conflicts on 
College Street 

0 100 200 400 800 

• Eliminate triangular 
intersection 

• Create signalized , 
~T-intersection 

.... - .A 

CD 

_/ 



Recommendations 
Option 1: Repave College Street with distinct and permeable paving 

-- - --- .... ... -

I 

I-. 
C/) 

~ 
j 

s 
~ 
if 
ll 

0 100 200 400 800 

LO~Gft\...LO'ti r:>-\/t 

CD 



Option 2: Create a significant stretch of College Street to have a raised Speed Table 

• level with sidewalk 
• to slow traffic 
• to indicate pedestrian 

importance 
!-.. 

"' l..tJ 
~ 
~ 

s 
~ 

IE 
~ 

0 100 200 400 • 800 

\..O~GrC.llO'tJ p.\1£. 

.. 

Street 

11111111111111 Speed 
Table 

.....,__-

CD 



 
 

 
ITEM 20 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 
 



 

 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

 

 

 

An Application for a Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 

 

 

 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

BRUNSWICK LANDING MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT AND  

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICT 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Presented to: 

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

 

DATED: March 4, 2013 



 

 2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

                  Page 

 

I. Introduction ............................................................................................................3 

 

 A. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority.............................................3 

 B. MRRA’s Request for Tax Increment Financing Assistance ........................4 

 C. Town’s Consideration of MRRA’s Request ................................................4 

 

II. Physical Description of District ............................................................................4 

 

III. Municipal Approvals .............................................................................................5 

 A. Notice of Public Hearing .............................................................................5 

 B. Minutes of Public Hearing Held by Council................................................5 

 C. Authorizing Votes ........................................................................................5 

 

EXHIBITS: 

A TIF District Maps 

B. Statutory Requirements & Thresholds 

C Assessor’s Certificate of Original Assessed Value 

D Public Hearing Notice 

E Public Hearing Minutes 

F Town Council Resolution



 

 3 

I. Introduction 
 

A. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority 

On August 24, 2005, the Federal Base Realignment and Closure (“BRAC”) Commission voted 

eight to one to close Naval Air Station Brunswick (“NAS Brunswick”) and move its aircraft 

operations to Jacksonville, Florida. The 79-acre Topsham Annex located in Topsham, Maine was 

also included as part of the closure. On September 15, 2005, the final list was approved by the 

President of the United States.  By law, both properties were required to close before September 

15, 2011.  For the Town of Brunswick, the Town of Topsham, Cumberland and Sagadahoc 

counties, and the State of Maine, that decision was the culmination of an intense process and 

significant community effort to keep the facility open to maintain an employment base of over 

5,200 military and civilian personnel.   

NAS Brunswick was built as a multi-purpose campus that has changed over many years to serve 

a variety of purposes.   It has been an airport since its initial development in the late 1930s, built 

on the site of a municipal airfield. Its primary mission has been to house and maintain various 

patrol aircraft and other Navy aviation and non-aviation activities. The base is considered both 

an industrial facility where aircraft were hangared, maintained and flown, as well as a support 

facility with offices, retail buildings, housing and ancillary uses associated with a relatively self-

contained operation. In total there are over 200 buildings totaling over 1.75 million square feet 

on the base; forty of which buildings would be considered significant facilities.   

The closure of NAS Brunswick represents one of the largest single employer relocations or 

closings in the history of the state.  The State Planning Office conducted an assessment of 

impact closure and revised the state gross product projection for 2015 downward by $390 

million, cutting the projected growth rate from two to approximately one percent.  They also 

revised the state population growth downward by 7,400 as a result of the base closure.   

Projected State personal income was also reduced by $370 million.  Revenues to the State of 

Maine are also expected to be reduced by some $20 million. 

In other economic displacement events such as plant closings, most individuals continue to live 

in the community, albeit with reduced income, and they still contribute to the economy, have 

children in local schools, and participate in the activities of the community.   In the case of a 

base closure and realignment, however, an entire segment of the population leaves the area, 

which increases vacancy rates and eliminates millions of dollars spent in the local economy on 

everything from housing, food, transportation and energy costs, to professional services and 

entertainment. 

The impact of the closure is so large that the Maine Legislature created the Midcoast Regional 

Redevelopment Authority (“MRRA”) for the purpose of managing the transition of this large 

military facility back into the fabric of the region and to support the rapid and successful 

redevelopment of NAS Brunswick.  MRRA is a public municipal corporation.  While MRRA has 

many of the powers of a municipality, it does not have taxing jurisdiction over the property 

located within NAS Brunswick.  See 5 M.R.S.A. § 13083-I(1).  Thus, in order to use municipal 

tax increment financing (“TIF”) as an economic development tool to aid in the redevelopment of 



 

 4 

NAS Brunswick, MRRA must work cooperatively with the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) in 

order to create and use TIF revenues to foster and/or fund the desired redevelopment activities.    

B. MRRA’s Request for Tax Increment Financing Assistance  

MRRA has presented the Town with a request for tax increment financing assistance at NAS 

Brunswick as part of a larger project to redevelop the 1.7 million square feet of industrial, 

commercial and professional office space at NAS Brunswick.  MRRA’s mission is to facilitate 

the rapid redevelopment of the base properties in order to realize full build-out of Brunswick 

Landing in accordance with the adopted Reuse Master Plan for NAS Brunswick.  The proposed 

tax increment financing plan for the area formerly known as the cantonment area at NAS 

Brunswick includes creating a 542-acre tax increment financing district (the “District”), which 

will be developed into professional office space to enhance the competitiveness of the Midcoast 

region and the State of Maine to attract, grow and create new businesses in the industry clusters 

identified in the Reuse Master Plan for NAS Brunswick.  These industries include: composite 

manufacturing, information technology, alternative energy development, research, development 

and manufacturing and tourism and convention businesses in the Midcoast region.  Having this 

area in a TIF district will allow MRRA to seek funding from the Town for assistance in its 

efforts to redevelop the NAS Brunswick.     

C. Town’s Consideration of MRRA’s Request   

The Town of Brunswick will be pursuing discussions with MRRA regarding MRRA’s TIF 

proposal, and actively considering how best to maximize the Town’s ability to assist in the 

redevelopment of the NAS Brunswick through the use of tax increment financing.  As the Town 

has not yet finalized the terms of a development program for the District, the Town is moving 

forward only with the designation of the District at this time.  The Town wishes to designate the 

District prior to April 1, 2013 in order to capture any new taxable value that may be in the 

District as of that date.  Once the District is designated, the Town will continue working out the 

terms of a development program for the District, and will seek DECD approval of the 

development program later in the year.  Like the District, the final development program will be 

the subject of a public hearing prior to a final vote by the Council to approve the development 

program.      

The Town recognizes in this case that any DECD approval of the District would be a conditional 

approval, subject to DECD’s final approval of a development program governing the District.  

The Town further recognizes and agrees that the Town shall not spend any TIF revenues 

produced by the District until DECD has approved a development program for the District and 

issued a final, non-conditional approval for the District. 

II.  Physical Description of District 
 

MRRA proposes to have the Town support it in the development of this Project through the 

designation of the Brunswick Landing Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing 

District (the “District”).  The District will have a term of thirty (30) years.  The Town plans to 

capture all (100%) of the new value in the District for the entire 30-year period.  The proposed 



 

 5 

542-acre District is shown in Exhibit A.  The statutory threshold limits regarding the District’s 

size and taxable value are shown in Exhibit B.   

 

The Original Assessed Value of the District was zero dollars ($0) as of March 31, 2012 (April 1, 

2011).  Since MRRA is a tax exempt entity, there will not be any new taxable value in the 

District until new taxable value is created in the District as a result of MRRA’s successful 

redevelopment efforts.    

 

During the 30-year life of the District, the Town Manager or the Manager’s designee will be 

responsible for all administrative matters within the purview of the Town concerning the 

implementation and operation of the District.    

 

III. Municipal Approvals 
 

A. Notice of Public Hearing 

 
Attached as Exhibit D, is a copy of the Notice of Public Hearing published in the Times Record, 

a newspaper of general circulation in the Town, on February 22, 2013, a date at least ten (10) 

days prior to the public hearing.  The public hearing was held on March 4, 2013, in accordance 

with the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(1).   

 

B. Minutes of Public Hearing Held by Town Council 

 
Attached as Exhibit E, is a certified copy of the minutes of the public hearing held on March 4, 

2013, at which time the proposed District was discussed by the public. 

  

C. Authorizing Votes 

 
Attached as Exhibit F is a copy of the Brunswick Town Council Resolution designating the 

District, which Resolution was adopted by the Council at a meeting of the Council duly called 

and held on March 4, 2013. 



 

 6 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

TIF District Map 

Location Map 

 

 

 



 

 7 

EXHIBIT  A



 

 8 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

Statutory Requirements and Thresholds 

 

 



 

 9 

 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS & THRESHOLDS 
      Exhibit B 

A. ACRE LIMITATION -        BRUNSWICK LANDING 

1. Total Acreage of Municipality 28,800 

2. Total Acreage of Proposed Municipal TIF District          542 

3. Total Downtown acres contained in the Proposed Municipal TIF District 

 
            0 

4. Total Transit acres contained in the Proposed Municipal TIF District      0   

5. Total acreage of Proposed Municipal TIF District counted towards 2% cap (A2-A3-A4) 
 

       542 

6. Percentage of total acreage in proposed municipal TIF District (cannot exceed 2%) Divide A5 by A1        1.9% 

 

           1.9% 7. Total acreage of all existing and proposed municipal TIF districts in the municipality. Add A2 to sum of 

all existing TIF district acreage. 

 Existing       203.03 

Prop. B.L.    542 

Prop. B.E.A.146                     
891.03 

8. Total acreage of an existing or Proposed Downtown TIF District in the municipality. 89.97          

9. Total acreage of all existing Pine Tree Development Zone TIF Districts in the municipality. 0 

10. Total acreage of all existing or Proposed Transit TIF Districts in the municipality. 0 

11. Total acreage of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality counted toward 

5% cap. Subtract A8+A9+A10 from A7. 
801.06 

12. Percentage of total acreage in all existing and proposed Municipal TIF Districts (cannot exceed 5%) 

Divide A11 by A1. 

 

2.8% 

13. Total Acreage of all real property in the Proposed Municipal TIF District that is:  

 

 

 

(Note: a, b, or c must be at least 25%) Acres % 

a. Blighted                                                   (Divide acres by A2)   

b.    In need of rehabilitation/conservation     (Divide acres by A2)   

c.     Suitable for industrial/commercial site   (Divide acres by A2) 542 100% 
TOTAL 542 100% 

B. VALUATION LIMITATION 

1. Total Aggregate Value of Municipality (TAV)   

Use most recent April 1
st 

1,332,368,190 

2. Original Assessed Value (OAV) of Proposed Municipal TIF District.  

Use March 31
st
 of tax year preceding date of municipal designation 

0 

3. Total OAV of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality.  
Add b2 to sum of all existing TIF district OAVs  

80,803,500 

4. OAV of an existing or proposed Downtown TIF District in the municipality. 71,082,500 

5. OAV of all existing Pine Tree Development Zone TIF Districts in the municipality. 

 
0 

6. OAV of all existing or Proposed Transit TIF Districts in the municipality. 0 
7. Total OAV of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality counted toward 5% cap 

Subtract B4+B5+B6 from B3 
9,271,000 

8. Percentage of total OAV to TAV in all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts (cannot exceed 5%) 

Divide B7 by B1 
.73% 

Updated 01/20/2011 



 

 10 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 

Assessor’s Certificate 

 

 

 



 

 11 

 
 

 

 



 

 12 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D 

Notice of Public Hearing 

 

 

 



 

 13 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

Regarding 

 

A Municipal Tax Increment Financing District To Be Known As The  

“Brunswick Landing Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District”  

 

 Notice is hereby given that the Brunswick Town Council will hold a public hearing on  

 

March 4, 2013,  

at the 

Brunswick Municipal Meeting Room at 16 Station Avenue, Brunswick, Maine, 

The Public Hearing will be at 7:00 p.m.   

  

The purpose of the public hearing is to receive public comments on the designation of the 

proposed municipal tax increment financing district to be known as the Brunswick Landing 

Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District (the “District”) pursuant to the 

provisions of Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended.  Copies of 

the proposed Tax Increment Financing documents are available at the Town Clerk and Town 

Manager’s office during normal business hours. 

 

The proposed municipal development and tax increment financing district consists of 542 acres 

of property located at the former Naval Air Station Brunswick.   

 

A development program governing the District will be created, and will be the subject of a 

separate public hearing on a later date to be announced by the Council. 

 

All interested persons are invited to attend the public hearing and will be given an opportunity to 

be heard at that time. 

 

 

 



 

 14 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 

Minutes of Public Hearing and Town Council Meeting 

 

 



 

 15 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 

 

Minutes of Public Hearing and Town Council Meeting 

 



 

 16 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

Town Council Resolution 

 

 

 



 

 17 

 

EXHIBIT F 

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

TOWN COUNCIL RESOLUTION 

 

Designating the Brunswick Landing Municipal Development and  

Tax Increment Financing District 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) is authorized pursuant to Chapter 206 

of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, to designate specific areas within the 

Town as the Brunswick Landing Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 

(the “District”); and  

 

 WHEREAS, there is a need to encourage and facilitate the rapid redevelopment of 

industrial, commercial and professional office space within the Town at the former naval air base 

known as the Naval Air Station Brunswick (“NAS Brunswick”); and  

 

WHEREAS, the recent closure of NAS Brunswick creates an acute need to provide 

additional employment opportunities for the residents of the Town and the surrounding region; to 

improve and broaden the tax base of the Town; and to improve the general economy of the Town, 

the surrounding region and the State of Maine; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town desires to designate the District at this time to ensure that any new 

taxable value located in the District would be captured in a tax increment financing (“TIF”) 

district; and    

 

WHEREAS, the Town is working to create a development program for the District, but is 

not yet fully prepared to adopt a final development program for the District; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town understands and agrees that any approval of the District by the 

Maine Department of Economic and Community Development (“DECD”) would be a conditional 

approval until such time as DECD is presented with and approves a development program for the 

District; and  

  

WHEREAS, the Town understands and agrees that the Town shall not spend any 

incremental tax revenues resulting from the designation of the District until such time as DECD is 

presented with and approves a development program for the District; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has considered the comments provided at the public 

hearing, both for and against the designation of the District, if any; and  

 

WHEREAS, it is expected that approval will be sought and obtained from DECD, 

conditionally approving the designation of the District;  

 



 

 18 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1.   The Town Council hereby finds and determines that: 

 

a. At least twenty-five percent (25%), by area, of the real property within the District, 

as hereinafter designated, is in need of rehabilitation, redevelopment or conservation or is suitable 

for commercial uses as defined in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5223(3); and 

 

 b. The total area of the District does not exceed two percent (2%) of the total acreage 

of the Town, and the total area of all development districts within the Town (including this 

proposed District, but not including the Town’s Downtown TIF District) does not exceed five 

percent (5%) of the total acreage of the Town; and 

 

 c. The original assessed value of all existing and proposed tax increment financing 

districts (including this proposed District, but not including the Town’s Downtown TIF District) 

does not exceed five percent (5%) of the total value of equalized taxable property within the 

Town as of April 1, 2012; and 

 

 d. The designation of the District will generate substantial economic benefits for the 

Town and its residents and the surrounding region, and will contribute to the betterment of the 

health, welfare and safety of the inhabitants of the Town, including stimulating new employment 

opportunities, a broadened and improved tax base and economic stimulus, and therefore the 

designation of the District constitutes a good and valid public purpose.  The Town Council has 

considered all evidence, if any, presented to the Council with regard to any adverse economic 

effect on or detriment to any existing business and has found and determined that such adverse 

economic effect on or detriment to any existing business, if any, is outweighed by the contribution 

expected to be made through the designation of the District. 

 

 Section 2.  Pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as 

amended, the Town Council hereby designates the Brunswick Landing Municipal Development 

and Tax Increment Financing District, as more particularly described in the narrative presented to 

the Town Council as part of the materials supporting the Town’s designation of the District. 

  

 Section 3.  The Town Manager, or his duly appointed representative, is hereby authorized, 

empowered and directed to submit the proposed designation of the District to DECD for review 

and approval pursuant to the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(2).  

 

Section 4.   The foregoing designation of the District shall automatically become final 

and shall take full force and effect upon receipt by the Town of conditional approval of the 

designation of the District by DECD, without requirement of any further action by the Town, the 

Town Council, or any other party. 

 

Section 5. The Town Manager, or his duly appointed representative, is hereby 

authorized and empowered, at his discretion, from time to time, to make such revisions to the 

documents designating the District as he may deem reasonably necessary or convenient in order to 

facilitate the process for review and approval of the District designation by DECD, so long as such 



 

 19 

revisions are not inconsistent with these resolutions or the basic structure and intent of the Council 

in designating the District. 

 

Section 6.   This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 

Proposed to Town Council:  ______________ 

Public Hearing:   March 4, 2013 

Adopted by Town Council:  March 4, 2013 

 

 



 
 

 
ITEM 21 
BACK UP MATERIALS 
 
 



 

 

 

 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

 

 

 
An Application for a Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District 

 

 

 
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

BRUNSWICK EXECUTIVE AIRPORT MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT AND  

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICT 

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Presented to: 

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 

 

DATED: March 4, 2013 



 

 

 

 2 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

                  Page 

 

I. Introduction ............................................................................................................3 

 

 A. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority.............................................3 

 B. MRRA’s Request for Tax Increment Financing Assistance ........................4 

 C. Town’s Consideration of MRRA’s Request ................................................4 

 

II. Physical Description of District ............................................................................4 

 

III. Municipal Approvals .............................................................................................5 

 A. Notice of Public Hearing .............................................................................5 

 B. Minutes of Public Hearing Held by Council................................................5 

 C. Authorizing Votes ........................................................................................5 

 

EXHIBITS: 

A TIF District Maps 

B. Statutory Requirements & Thresholds 

C Assessor’s Certificate of Original Assessed Value 

D Public Hearing Notice 

E Public Hearing Minutes 

F Town Council Resolution



 

 

 

 3 

 

 

I. Introduction 

 

A. Midcoast Regional Redevelopment Authority 

On August 24, 2005, the Federal Base Realignment and Closure (“BRAC”) Commission voted 

eight to one to close Naval Air Station Brunswick (“NAS Brunswick”) and move its aircraft 

operations to Jacksonville, Florida. The 79-acre Topsham Annex located in Topsham, Maine was 

also included as part of the closure. On September 15, 2005, the final list was approved by the 

President of the United States.  By law, both properties were required to close before September 

15, 2011.  For the Town of Brunswick, the Town of Topsham, Cumberland and Sagadahoc 

counties, and the State of Maine, that decision was the culmination of an intense process and 

significant community effort to keep the facility open to maintain an employment base of over 

5,200 military and civilian personnel.   

NAS Brunswick was built as a multi-purpose campus that has changed over many years to serve 

a variety of purposes.   It has been an airport since its initial development in the late 1930s, built 

on the site of a municipal airfield. Its primary mission has been to house and maintain various 

patrol aircraft and other Navy aviation and non-aviation activities. The base is considered both 

an industrial facility where aircraft were hangared, maintained and flown, as well as a support 

facility with offices, retail buildings, housing and ancillary uses associated with a relatively self-

contained operation. In total there are over 200 buildings totaling over 1.75 million square feet 

on the base; forty of which buildings would be considered significant facilities.   

The closure of NAS Brunswick represents one of the largest single employer relocations or 

closings in the history of the state.  The State Planning Office conducted an assessment of 

impact closure and revised the state gross product projection for 2015 downward by $390 

million, cutting the projected growth rate from two to approximately one percent.  They also 

revised the state population growth downward by 7,400 as a result of the base closure.   

Projected State personal income was also reduced by $370 million.  Revenues to the State of 

Maine are also expected to be reduced by some $20 million. 

In other economic displacement events such as plant closings, most individuals continue to live 

in the community, albeit with reduced income, and they still contribute to the economy, have 

children in local schools, and participate in the activities of the community.   In the case of a 

base closure and realignment, however, an entire segment of the population leaves the area, 

which increases vacancy rates and eliminates millions of dollars spent in the local economy on 

everything from housing, food, transportation and energy costs, to professional services and 

entertainment. 

The impact of the closure is so large that the Maine Legislature created the Midcoast Regional 

Redevelopment Authority (“MRRA”) for the purpose of managing the transition of this large 

military facility back into the fabric of the region and to support the rapid and successful 

redevelopment of NAS Brunswick.  MRRA is a public municipal corporation.  While MRRA has 

many of the powers of a municipality, it does not have taxing jurisdiction over the property 

located within NAS Brunswick.  See 5 M.R.S.A. § 13083-I(1).  Thus, in order to use municipal 

tax increment financing (“TIF”) as an economic development tool to aid in the redevelopment of 



 

 

 

 4 

 

 

NAS Brunswick, MRRA must work cooperatively with the Town of Brunswick in order to 

create and use TIF revenues to foster and/or fund the desired redevelopment activities.  

B. MRRA’s Request for Tax Increment Financing Assistance  

MRRA has presented the Town with a request for tax increment financing assistance at NAS 

Brunswick as part of a larger project to redevelop the 1.7 million square feet of industrial, 

commercial and professional office space at NAS Brunswick.  MRRA’s mission is to facilitate 

the rapid redevelopment of the base properties in order to realize full build-out of Brunswick 

Landing in accordance with the adopted Reuse Master Plan for BNAS and the Airport Master 

Plan.  The proposed tax increment financing plan for the airport facilities at the Brunswick 

Executive Airport includes creating a 146-acre tax increment financing district (the “District”), 

which is intended to facilitate the redevelopment, investment and transition of the naval airfield 

into a civilian general aviation airport and business executive park. Investment in the buildings 

and infrastructure used for aeronautical purposes associated with this 146-acre TIF District 

would enhance the competitiveness of the Midcoast region and the State of Maine, and allow the 

area to attract, grow and create new businesses in the growing aeronautical cluster in the 

Midcoast region.  Having this area in a TIF district will allow MRRA to seek funding from the 

Town for assistance in its efforts to redevelop the NAS Brunswick.     

C. Town’s Consideration of MRRA’s Request   

The Town of Brunswick will be pursuing discussions with MRRA regarding MRRA’s TIF 

proposal, and actively considering how best to maximize the Town’s ability to assist in the 

redevelopment of the NAS Brunswick through the use of tax increment financing.  As the Town 

has not yet finalized the terms of a development program for the District, the Town is moving 

forward only with the designation of the District at this time.  The Town wishes to designate the 

District prior to April 1, 2013 in order to capture any new taxable value that may be in the 

District as of that date.  Once the District is designated, the Town will continue working out the 

terms of a development program for the District, and will seek DECD approval of the 

development program later in the year.  Like the District, the final development program will be 

the subject of a public hearing prior to a final vote by the Council to approve the development 

program.      

The Town recognizes in this case that any DECD approval of the District would be a conditional 

approval, subject to DECD’s final approval of a development program governing the District.  

The Town further recognizes and agrees that the Town shall not spend any TIF revenues 

produced by the District until DECD has approved a development program for the District and 

issued a final, non-conditional approval for the District. 

II.  Physical Description of District 
 

MRRA proposes to have the Town support it in the development of this Project through the 

designation of the Brunswick Executive Airport Municipal Development and Tax Increment 

Financing District (the “District”).  The District will have a term of thirty (30) years.  The Town 

plans to capture all (100%) of the new value in the District for the entire 30-year period.  The 



 

 

 

 5 

 

 

proposed 146-acre District is shown in Exhibit A.  The statutory threshold limits regarding the 

District’s size and taxable value are shown in Exhibit B.   

 

The Original Assessed Value of the District was zero dollars ($0) as of March 31, 2012 (April 1, 

2011).  Since MRRA is a tax exempt entity, there will not be any new taxable value in the 

District until new taxable value is created in the District as a result of MRRA’s successful 

redevelopment efforts.    

 

During the 30-year life of the District, the Town Manager or the Manager’s designee will be 

responsible for all administrative matters within the purview of the Town concerning the 

implementation and operation of the District.    

 

III. Municipal Approvals 
 

A. Notice of Public Hearing 

 
Attached as Exhibit D, is a copy of the Notice of Public Hearing published in the Times Record, 

a newspaper of general circulation in the Town, on February 22, 2013, a date at least ten (10) 

days prior to the public hearing.  The public hearing was held on March 4, 2013, in accordance 

with the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(1).   

 

B. Minutes of Public Hearing Held by Town Council 

 
Attached as Exhibit E, is a certified copy of the minutes of the public hearing held on March 4, 

2013, at which time the proposed District was discussed by the public. 

  

C. Authorizing Votes 

 
Attached as Exhibit F is a copy of the Brunswick Town Council Resolution designating the 

District, which Resolution was adopted by the Council at a meeting of the Council duly called 

and held on March 4, 2013. 

 

 



 

 

 

 6 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

TIF District Map 

Location Map 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 7 

 

 



 

 

 

 8 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

Statutory Requirements and Thresholds 

 

 



 

 

 

 9 

 

 

STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS & THRESHOLDS 

      Exhibit B 

A. ACRE LIMITATION -        BRUNSWICK EXECUTIVE AIRPORT 

1. Total Acreage of Municipality 28,800 

2. Total Acreage of Proposed Municipal TIF District 146 
3. Total Downtown acres contained in the Proposed Municipal TIF District 

 
            0 

4. Total Transit acres contained in the Proposed Municipal TIF District      0 

   5. Total acreage of Proposed Municipal TIF District counted towards 2% cap (A2-A3-A4) 
 

       146 

6. Percentage of total acreage in proposed municipal TIF District (cannot exceed 2%) Divide A5 by A1 .5% 

7. Total acreage of all existing and proposed municipal TIF districts in the municipality. Add A2 to sum of 

all existing TIF district acreage. 

 Existing       203.03 

Prop. B.L.    542 

Prop. B.E.A.146                     
891.03 

8. Total acreage of an existing or Proposed Downtown TIF District in the municipality. 89.97          

9. Total acreage of all existing Pine Tree Development Zone TIF Districts in the municipality. 0 

10. Total acreage of all existing or Proposed Transit TIF Districts in the municipality. 0 

11. Total acreage of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality counted toward 

5% cap. Subtract A8+A9+A10 from A7. 

801.06 

12. Percentage of total acreage in all existing and proposed Municipal TIF Districts (cannot exceed 5%) 

Divide A11 by A1. 

 

2.8% 

13. Total Acreage of all real property in the Proposed Municipal TIF District that is:  

 

 

 

(Note: a, b, or c must be at least 25%) Acres % 

a. Blighted                                                   (Divide acres by A2)   

b.    In need of rehabilitation/conservation     (Divide acres by A2)   

c.     Suitable for industrial/commercial site   (Divide acres by A2) 146 100% 
TOTAL 146 100% 

B. VALUATION LIMITATION 

1. Total Aggregate Value of Municipality (TAV)   

Use most recent April 1
st 

1,332,368,190 

2. Original Assessed Value (OAV) of Proposed Municipal TIF District.  

Use March 31
st
 of tax year preceding date of municipal designation 

0 

3. Total OAV of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality.  
Add b2 to sum of all existing TIF district OAVs  

80,803,500 

4. OAV of an existing or proposed Downtown TIF District in the municipality. 71,082,500 
5. OAV of all existing Pine Tree Development Zone TIF Districts in the municipality. 0 

6. OAV of all existing or Proposed Transit TIF Districts in the municipality. 0 

7. Total OAV of all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts in the municipality counted toward 5% cap 

Subtract B4+B5+B6 from B3 
9,271,000 

8. Percentage of total OAV to TAV in all existing and Proposed Municipal TIF Districts (cannot exceed 5%) 

Divide B7 by B1 
.73% 

Updated 01/20/2011 



 

 

 

 10 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 

Assessor’s Certificate 

 

 



 

 

 

 11 

 

 



 

 

 

 12 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D 

Notice of Public Hearing 

 

 



 
 
 

 
EXHIBIT D 

 
 

 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK 
Regarding 

 
A Municipal Tax Increment Financing District To Be Known As The  

“Brunswick Executive Airport Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing 
District”  

 
 Notice is hereby given that the Brunswick Town Council will hold a public hearing on  
 

March 4, 2013,  
at the 

Brunswick Municipal Meeting Room at 16 Station Avenue, Brunswick, Maine, 
The Public Hearing will be at 7:00 p.m.   

  
The purpose of the public hearing is to receive public comments on the designation of the 
proposed municipal tax increment financing district to be known as the Brunswick Executive 
Airport Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing District (the “District”) pursuant 
to the provisions of Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended.  
Copies of the proposed Tax Increment Financing documents are available at the Town Clerk and 
Town Manager’s office during normal business hours. 
 
The proposed municipal development and tax increment financing district consists of 146 acres 
of property located at the former Naval Air Station Brunswick.   
 
A development program governing the District will be created, and will be the subject of a 
separate public hearing on a later date to be announced by the Council. 
 
All interested persons are invited to attend the public hearing and will be given an opportunity to 
be heard at that time. 
 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 14 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 

Minutes of Public Hearing and Town Council Meeting 

 

 



 

 

 

 15 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 

 

Minutes of Public Hearing and Town Council Meeting 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 16 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

Town Council Resolution 

 

 



 

 

 

 17 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

 

 

TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

TOWN COUNCIL RESOLUTION 

 

Designating the Brunswick Executive Airport Municipal Development and  

Tax Increment Financing District 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town of Brunswick (the “Town”) is authorized pursuant to Chapter 206 

of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as amended, to designate specific areas within the 

Town as the Brunswick Executive Airport Municipal Development and Tax Increment Financing 

District (the “District”); and  

 

 WHEREAS, there is a need to encourage and facilitate the rapid redevelopment of 

industrial, commercial and professional office space within the Town at the former naval air base 

known as the Naval Air Station Brunswick (“NAS Brunswick”); and  

 

WHEREAS, the recent closure of NAS Brunswick creates an acute need to provide 

additional employment opportunities for the residents of the Town and the surrounding region; to 

improve and broaden the tax base of the Town; and to improve the general economy of the Town, 

the surrounding region and the State of Maine; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town desires to designate the District at this time to ensure that any new 

taxable value located in the District would be captured in a tax increment financing (“TIF”) 

district; and    

 

WHEREAS, the Town is working to create a development program for the District, but is 

not yet fully prepared to adopt a final development program for the District; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town understands and agrees that any approval of the District by the 

Maine Department of Economic and Community Development (“DECD”) would be a conditional 

approval until such time as DECD is presented with and approves a development program for the 

District; and  

  

WHEREAS, the Town understands and agrees that the Town shall not spend any 

incremental tax revenues resulting from the designation of the District until such time as DECD is 

presented with and approves a development program for the District; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has considered the comments provided at the public 

hearing, both for and against the designation of the District, if any; and  

 

WHEREAS, it is expected that approval will be sought and obtained from DECD, 

conditionally approving the designation of the District;  



 

 

 

 18 

 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1.   The Town Council hereby finds and determines that: 

 

a. At least twenty-five percent (25%), by area, of the real property within the District, 

as hereinafter designated, is in need of rehabilitation, redevelopment or conservation or is suitable 

for commercial uses as defined in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5223(3); and 

 

 b. The total area of the District does not exceed two percent (2%) of the total acreage 

of the Town, and the total area of all development districts within the Town (including this 

proposed District, but not including the Town’s Downtown TIF District) does not exceed five 

percent (5%) of the total acreage of the Town; and 

 

 c. The original assessed value of all existing and proposed tax increment financing 

districts (including this proposed District, but not including the Town’s Downtown TIF District) 

does not exceed five percent (5%) of the total value of equalized taxable property within the 

Town as of April 1, 2012; and 

 

 d. The designation of the District will generate substantial economic benefits for the 

Town and its residents and the surrounding region, and will contribute to the betterment of the 

health, welfare and safety of the inhabitants of the Town, including stimulating new employment 

opportunities, a broadened and improved tax base and economic stimulus, and therefore the 

designation of the District constitutes a good and valid public purpose.  The Town Council has 

considered all evidence, if any, presented to the Council with regard to any adverse economic 

effect on or detriment to any existing business and has found and determined that such adverse 

economic effect on or detriment to any existing business, if any, is outweighed by the contribution 

expected to be made through the designation of the District. 

 

 Section 2.  Pursuant to Chapter 206 of Title 30-A of the Maine Revised Statutes, as 

amended, the Town Council hereby designates the Brunswick Executive Airport Municipal 

Development and Tax Increment Financing District, as more particularly described in the narrative 

presented to the Town Council as part of the materials supporting the Town’s designation of the 

District. 

  

 Section 3.  The Town Manager, or his duly appointed representative, is hereby authorized, 

empowered and directed to submit the proposed designation of the District to DECD for review 

and approval pursuant to the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. § 5226(2).  

 

Section 4.   The foregoing designation of the District shall automatically become final 

and shall take full force and effect upon receipt by the Town of conditional approval of the 

designation of the District by DECD, without requirement of any further action by the Town, the 

Town Council, or any other party. 

 

Section 5.   The Town Manager, or his duly appointed representative, is hereby authorized 

and empowered, at his discretion, from time to time, to make such revisions to the documents 

designating the District as he may deem reasonably necessary or convenient in order to facilitate 



 

 

 

 19 

 

 

the process for review and approval of the District designation by DECD, so long as such revisions 

are not inconsistent with these resolutions or the basic structure and intent of the Council in 

designating the District. 

 

Section 6. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 

Proposed to Town Council:  ______________ 

Public Hearing:   March 4, 2013 

Adopted by Town Council:  March 4, 2013 

 


